WHAT THEY DO IN THE SHADOWS The rapid implementation of gender ideology in the New Zealand public sector

Part 2. Case studies

Jan Rivers and Jill Abigail

Table of Contents

Human Rights Commission	3
The Human Rights Act 1993 – Sex and Gender	3
The Crown Law Opinion, 2006	4
The Yogyakarta Principles, 2006/7	6
To Be Who I Am, 2008	8
HRC Submission to the BDMRR Bill, 2018	10
The Commission's Advocating for Secrecy, 2019	11
PRISM Report, 2020	12
Balancing Rights and Promoting Harmonious Relations	16
References (Human Rights Commission)	18
Ministry for Women	24
Background	24
A Lack of Website Search Capability	25
Policy-making in the Dark, 2018	25
Bringing in Gender, 2019	27
The Equal Pay Amendment Act, 2020	28
The Briefing to the Incoming Minister 2020	28
Discussion	29
References (Ministry for Women)	29
Stats NZ	32
Introduction	32
Statistical Standard for Gender Identity V1.0.0, 2015	33
Consultation on a New Standard for Sexual Orientation, 2018	34
Gender Pay Gap Measurement and Analysis, 2018	34
Household Economic Survey, 2019/20	35
Review of the Sex and Gender Identity Standards, 2019/2020	35
Discussion	38
References (Stats NZ)	40
Ministry of Social Development	43
Stirrings of Discontent, 2018	43
Announcing Self-identification, 2019	43
OIA Request about the Change, 2019	45
Questions Arising from the Decision	46
References (Ministry of Social Development)	48

Human Rights Commission

The Human Rights Commission (HRC) was created in 1997 to provide better protection of human rights in Aotearoa, working under the Human Rights Act 1993. It is funded from the budget allocation for Justice but operates at arms length from the New Zealand government as an independent Crown Entity.

Its job is to:

- advocate and promote respect for human rights in New Zealand
- encourage harmonious relations between individuals and among the diverse groups in New Zealand
- promote racial equality and cultural diversity
- · lead, evaluate, monitor and advise on equal employment opportunities
- provide information to the public about discrimination and help resolve complaints about discrimination.²

The Human Rights Act 1993 - Sex and Gender

The sex-based rights of women in human rights laws are typically based on recognition of the disadvantage women as a class have suffered historically under a patriarchal system that has valued men over women, and under which women have been and continue to be the recipients of male violence.

So the New Zealand Human Rights Act (1993) prevents discrimination of women as a sex, including in relation to pregnancy and childbirth as well as protections from other disadvantages arising from the power imbalance between men and women. The provisions are drafted in a sex-neutral way, but their effect is to support single-sex access to sex-differentiated places as well as the staffing of and access to specific services where women and girls have particular needs or vulnerabilities. The provisions thus ensure inclusion, safety and fairness, as well as accounting for vulnerability. They do this, for example, in relation to competitive sport, where the "strength, stamina, or physique of competitors is relevant". Other protections include:

Courses and counselling services for highly personal matters, such as sexual matters or the prevention of violence

Allowing for women to be appointed where the position is that of a counsellor on highly personal matters such as sexual matters or the prevention of violence or where privacy, authenticity and integrity are issues, and [w]here sex is a genuine occupational qualification for the position or employment

Protection of women-only public spaces, single-sex accommodation (such as refuges and prisons) and separate facilities, as well as places and vehicles for each sex on the grounds of public decency or public safety

Allowing for discrimination in favour of women and girls in education

Skills (such as hair-dressing) where the nature of a skill varies according to whether it is exercised in relation to men or women.¹

The Act also protects against discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation, whether that is homosexual, heterosexual or bisexual.

This case study traces the steps by which women's, lesbians' and gay men's protections under the Human Rights Act have come under threat from an ideology that claims that men who identify as women are to be accepted as women and allowed to access the same rights as them. Following the timeline information there is discussion about the extent to which the Human Rights Commission is meeting the key legislative requirements of its role – specifically those related to:

- advocating and promoting respect for human rights in New Zealand
- encouraging harmonious relations between individuals and among the diverse groups in New Zealand.²

The Crown Law Opinion, 2006

As described in Part 1, a Private Member's Bill, introduced in 2006 and sponsored by transsexual MP Georgina Beyer, aimed to provide for 'gender identity' to be included as one of the prohibited grounds of discrimination in Section 21 of the Human Rights Act. It was introduced into Parliament and then withdrawn.³

Due to the Labour Government wishing to distance itself from controversial and "politically correct" legislation — especially in the wake of the Prostitution Reform Act 2003 and the Civil Union Act 2004 — the Bill was withdrawn before it was even debated.⁴

(An attempt to introduce a similar bill in 2014 was also rebuffed.⁵)

Coinciding with the withdrawal of the 2006 Bill was the publication of a legal opinion that Attorney General Michael Cullen had requested from Crown Law. Their opinion was that transgender people should be protected under the sex basis provisions of the Act.⁶

That legal opinion provided the broadest and most wide-ranging interpretation of transgender rights. It did not consider case law that was available at the time and which pointed the way to how accommodations between women's rights and

transgender rights might have been met.⁷ This included cases such as Bellinger v Bellinger, which had drawn cautious conclusions and suggested that:

the aim of...surgery is to make the individual feel more comfortable with his or her body, not to 'turn a man into a woman'.

Other judgements suggested that there were objective tests about who was included within the category of 'transgender', and that:

In effect the law has, in limited and defined circumstances, created a "fiction" in the interests of a small number of transgender people.

The same judgement said there was a need for the careful setting of eligibility criteria so as not to risk "overthrowing the whole system".

However, the conclusion of the Crown Law opinion appears to have been assumed to mean that males who claim a gender identity different from their sex (transwomen) must be treated as women. It could equally have been framed as transgender people being protected under the category of their birth sex as gender non-conforming individuals, as the case Price-Waterhouse vs Hopkins found.⁶

In fairness, Crown Law was not asked to be restrained, nor to examine the legislation rather than the case law in other jurisdictions in order to address the issues raised by failing to legislate. Nor were they asked to identify specifically who was in the category of 'transgender'. They defined this in the broadest of terms, including transvestites and cross-dressers as well as transsexuals, taking a lead from the Beyer Bill on gender identity and which was followed by the Human Rights Commission's To Be Who I am report, discussed below. The opinion was silent as to whether there should be any qualifying criteria for inclusion in the class 'transgender', even though there were such criteria as surgery and legal confirmation required in most countries whose case law was examined. 6 The question posed was the open-ended "whether prohibition of discrimination on the grounds of gender identity is already provided for in the Human Rights Act". But the wide scope and the need to show there were no hindrances to transgender people's protections has meant the effects of the opinion have gone beyond the usual human rights issues that is to say, equity in access to health, employment and education, and clarification of individual humanitarian issues such as the right to marry or to receive a partner's superannuation entitlement. (The case law cited was mostly concerned with such issues.) Opinions provided publicly by the HRC have indicated it believes that when a male person claiming a 'female gender identity' seeks to use the services, places, sports, awards, employment roles and rights otherwise available only to women, this is granted by the legislation.⁸ The Commission does this:

 even though the claim infringes significantly on the very provisions that the Human Rights Act was and is intended to protect;

- irrespective of a clear intent that the case law cited provided for this meaning;
- despite the absence of evidence that this was the intent of the legal opinion and
- despite the Beyer Bill as drafted differentiating between sex and gender identity, not collapsing them.

It is unclear whether this goes further than the intent that politicians of the time intended in requesting the opinion.

The Commission's interpretation has occurred even when there is obvious unfairness – as in competitive sport – and in places where women are vulnerable – such as changing rooms. Because of the lack of specific criteria in the Crown Law opinion, this intrusion on women's sex-based rights can take place regardless of whether or not the transgender person has gone through a gender reassignment or even a legal process. The Commission, however, appears uninterested in the impacts on women in the cases where there is a conflict. It says as much in its submissions, stating that "Sex discrimination is interpreted by the Commission to include discrimination on the grounds of gender identity".⁸

The Crown Law opinion has been interpreted and extended by the Commission in its public statements to include the right for transwomen to:

- use women's gymnasiums, including changing rooms⁹
- take part in the female categories in sports¹⁰
- be housed in women's prisons.¹¹

It must be assumed that the HRC has also supported transwomen being employed in circumstances where, as men, they could otherwise be excluded, such as in intimate counselling sessions with abused women and in women's refuges, since there is evidence of transwomen filling these roles.

The Yogyakarta Principles, 2006/7

The Yogyakarta Principles¹² were the brainchild of ARC International, a Canadian NGO.^{13.} Their purpose was to rectify the lack of an over-arching United Nations treaty or framework for sexual orientation and gender identity, or for people with intersex conditions. In 2005, ARC set up an office in Geneva to lobby for change. It coordinated a meeting in Yogyakarta, Indonesia, of sympathetic academics and human rights specialists who developed and promoted the Yogyakarta Principles. (The present NZ Chief Human Rights Commissioner, Paul Hunt, was involved in that exercise when he was a United Kingdom-based academic.¹¹) The 2006 version of the Principles contains the definition of 'gender identity' used by the HRC:

Gender identity is understood to refer to each person's deeply felt internal and individual experience of gender, which may or

may not correspond with the sex assigned at birth, including the personal sense of the body (which may involve, if freely chosen, modification of bodily appearance or function by medical, surgical or other means) and other expressions of gender, including dress, speech and mannerisms.¹²

The Principles were updated in 2017 with further principles in a way that responds to the progress of gender ideology and serves to reinforce it. ¹⁴ The Principles have been influential within the European Union, with committees of the United Nations, in New Zealand and beyond, in implementing gender ideology. The acronyms SOGIESC (Sexual Orientation, Gender Identity and Expression and Sex Characteristics) and SOGI, adopted in the Principles, helped to tie the gender identity issue to the larger and at that time more well-established LGB wagon, as well as creating a false equivalence between transgender and intersex (medical) conditions. ¹⁴ ¹⁵

ARC's work was also influenced by a small group of wealthy and influential transgender activists. The work of these activists also led to transgender treatment guidelines and critiqued the medical diagnosis of transgender identity, seeking to remove its association with mental illness. ¹⁶ ¹⁷ The term 'gender identity' was first defined in the American Psychiatric Association's Diagnostic and Statistical Manual, version 3, in 1980. ¹⁸ However, it had barely been used in jurisprudence before 2007 ¹⁴ except, interestingly, in New Zealand, where it was the defining term in the Beyer Bill described above, which was first drafted in 2004. ³

The foreword to the Principles says they are "a universal guide to human rights which affirm binding international legal standards with which all States must comply" (emphasis added). Human rights lawyer Anna Zobnina outlines how the Principles have frequently been presented as if they have international standing and as if they have been agreed by international forums. 14 This is not the case, but in its documents the Human Rights Commission frequently presents them as if it is. 8 11 The Principles have never been discussed and hammered out through the United Nations formal processes. They are best described as a "project in progress". 14

A 2016 resolution of the United Nations Human Rights Council did refer to discrimination based on 'gender identity', ¹⁹ but did not define the term. The UN has created a special rapporteur on the issue and created a campaigning centre within the UN to promote LGBTI rights. ²⁰ Special rapporteur roles are advisory and exploratory and do not define national legislative requirements. ²¹ Transgender and self-identification rights are referenced in other documents, but this is not the same as creating a legal treaty obligation. Neither those terms nor 'gender identity' are defined by the UN in conventions or treaties.

For feminists, the concern is that the extra-legal adoption of the Principles into national legislation is endangering both women's rights in general and in particular lesbian rights.¹⁴ ²² The convergence between homosexuality and transgender status

implied by the Principles has the effect of making it next to impossible to campaign for lesbian rights (or against harms) without also campaigning for the rights of men to call themselves lesbian.¹⁵

The Principles, although not legally binding in international law, are being implemented by states to different extents and their provisions are being used to disadvantage women by being used to enact local laws that can:

- abolish women-only spaces by allowing 'gender' self identification
- shift the meaning of 'gender' from its usual meanings of a synonym for sex or stereotypes of behaviour to a meaning of self-identified gender
- replace 'sex' with 'gender identity' in the description of sexual orientation, thus making 'lesbian' mean attraction to a person of the same gender identity, not the same sex
- make feminist analysis of women's oppression branded a form of prejudice
- prioritise the rights to create families, including by artificial means, over the potential problems of commercial surrogacy arrangements.²²

As noted above, the HRC uses the Yogyakarta Principles in its submissions and publications in a way that implies they have the legal status of a United Nations treaty. This usage, coupled with the Crown Law legal opinion, is having impacts that are not covered by legislation. This is reflected in the Commission's *To Be Who I Am report*, ²³ its 2018 submission to the Births, Deaths, Marriages and Relationships Registration Bill⁸ and its 2020 *PRISM* report.¹¹

To Be Who I Am, 2008

In 2008, the Commission carried out a survey of the wants and needs of transgender people, resulting in the report *To Be Who I Am.*²³ The HRC's consultation process was open for five months and, like the legal opinion mentioned above, spread the net as widely as the Crown Law Opinion had, including responses from not only transsexual people who had transitioned chemically and surgically but also transvestites, as well as a few young children who identified as transgender. But the report suffers two major problems. Firstly, although a few children were part of the consultation it is mainly adult voices that speak to the needs and situation of children. Secondly, and unlike the usual good practice with consultations, the desire to provide a level of compassion and acceptance that fully endorsed transgender people's lives and perspectives meant there was a lack of balance and critical thinking in framing the proposals that arose from the consultation. Both factors have led to uncritical acceptance across government and have been the principal causes of the major unintended policy changes described elsewhere in these case studies and in Part 1 of this paper.

The report's approach barely mentions issues around diagnosis, but assumes simply that people identifying as being transgender or reporting gender dysphoria, including children and young people, should be accepted at their word. Rather than looking at

underlying causes of wishing to transition, such as abuse and trauma, it advocates for transgender treatment in a way that has normalised access to puberty blockers, cross-sex hormones and surgery for children and young people.^{24 25}

Regarding discrimination, the Commission states that:

[I]n arriving at recommendations to address discrimination the enquiry has drawn heavily on suggested solutions from trans people.

In other words, the recommendations about children are based mainly on adult transpeople's views of their childhoods. Yet research shows that the great majority of children with gender dysphoria or gender confusion change their minds or grow out of their discomfort with their bodies. ^{26 27} In retrospect, this report appears to have set the scene for the increasing readiness to provide medical and surgical transition for young people,²⁴ while ignoring other evidence.^{27 28} By taking a solely 'lived experience' perspective of transgender people's lives, the report fails to mention that many children are interested in things more stereotypically associated with the opposite sex, as well as wanting to be that. Indeed, in the years since the report was written there have been numerous testimonies from people whose behaviour as children was different from the usual stereotyped roles, but who did not become transgender. 26 29 There are well documented cases indicating that there are similar reasons for young women seeking to transition as for their becoming anorexic.^{30 31} There is also strong evidence of social contagion in the decision to transition.²⁸ Finally, since the exceedingly small numbers of mostly adult people who identified as transgender at the time of the 2008 report, the demographic of people wishing to transition has shifted to a much younger and far larger cohort of mostly young women. The thinking about gender identity has captured our institutions to the point where an Auckland University survey of eight-year-olds in 2020 considered it appropriate to ask whether the children "identified their gender as somewhere between a boy and a girl".32

To Be Who I Am also reports children as being transgender and tells of the medical problems for 'transmen' who bind their breasts while they await mastectomies. (Subsequently, there are waiting lists for breast-binders prior to the removal of healthy breasts in young women transitioning to becoming transmen.³³)

In contrast to other work by the Commission, where a balance is sought between different interests, only the perspective of transgender people is given serious consideration in the report. This was evidently driven by good motives, and appeared to have been necessary to encourage the community to participate. As a result, the report largely avoids insights from counsellors, ethicists, lawyers and feminists, as well as pre-transition partners and children of trans-identified people. The report makes little effort to consider the views of medical specialists other than those who are wholly supportive of transition. However, the reticence by clinicians to

endorse and treat is visible in the comments made by transgender people in their evidence. As an example one transman was quoted as saying that they had:

... received an appointment... to see a gynaecologist.... but he was absolutely horrified when I told him why I wanted a hysterectomy ... He point blank refused to perform a hysterectomy ... saying that no surgeon is permitted to remove healthy tissue, even if the patient doesn't want it. (Transman)²³

But in general sceptical medical personnel were not able to bring their voices and concerns to the table. Nor does the report consider whether the co-morbid mental health issues are significant, despite serious mental health issues being very common in the lives of transgender people. Health issues are addressed either in the context of an oppressive 'anti-trans' society, or are portrayed as pre-existing conditions that are separate from a transgender identity, creating an impression that transitioning is a panacea for a person's well-being. Subsequent research has demonstrated poor quality evidence that this is true and a growing body of evidence that is contradictory. He is a panacea for a person of the contradictory.

Despite these serious shortcomings, the report's 'findings' are the source of much later activity, including the HRC's affirmative-only approach to gender-transition treatment, which has been part of the cause of the high numbers of children and young people identifying as transgender. They have also influenced subsequent policy and approaches, in particular with regard to:

- exceptional rights related to privacy, language, and belief outlined in Part 1 of this paper
- creation of the idea of gender not as cultural stereotypes of behaviour but as a
 distinct internal essence. This has led to the situation where the Commission
 now asserts that everyone has a gender identity that may be the same or
 different from their sex or on a spectrum from male to female
- reintroducing the Beyer Bill proposal that gender identity should be added to the Human Rights legislation
- rejection of the idea that mental health issues may signal other kinds of trauma, involving a risky flight from a sexual identity and which should be addressed before transition
- housing transwomen in women's prisons and
- a large part of the thinking that has seen the widespread adoption of gender ideology across government.

HRC Submission to the BDMRR Bill, 2018

In its submission to the Births, Deaths, Marriages and Relationships Registration Bill, the Commission advanced the rights of transgender people to self-identify without preconditions. The submission gave no consideration to whether those rights might disadvantage women.⁸ It cited the Yogyakarta Principles discussed above, in the same problematic way.

The submission proposed the implementation of condition-free self-identification as follows:

Ensure a quick, transparent, and accessible mechanism that legally recognises and affirms each person's self-defined gender identity;

Make available a multiplicity of gender marker options;
Ensure that no eligibility criteria, such as medical or
psychological interventions, a psycho-medical diagnosis,
minimum or maximum age, economic status, health, marital or
parental status, or any other third party opinion, shall be a
prerequisite to change one's name, legal sex or gender;
Ensure that a person's criminal record, immigration status or
other status is not used to prevent a change of name, legal sex
or gender.

The submission also listed all of the arrangements in other jurisdictions that allow for self-identification. But few if any of those proposed arrangements were subject to an open process of consultation – just as New Zealand's would not have been. Ireland was listed, even though there are guaranteed protections for women's rights there. Canada's situation was lauded even though the downsides of self-ID in that country have become apparent.³⁵ ³⁶ ³⁷

The original BDMRR Bill did not contain provisions for gender self-identity, but was a technical redrafting of registrations. Nonetheless, civil society transgender organisations, the Human Rights Commission, Green Party MPs and others pushed to ensure that the self-identification provisions were able to make their way into the Bill for the Second Reading. The Bill was deferred in early 2019 ³⁸ and has not at the time of writing been re-introduced. It is, however, on the government's programme for the 2021 session.

The Commission's Advocating for Secrecy, 2019

In late 2019, the Ministry of Social Development (MSD) announced that gender self-identification and a third gender option would be accepted from all its clients, with no supporting evidence of any kind required.^{39 40} This was despite the self-identification proposals in the BDMRR Bill having been deferred only a few months earlier. (See the Ministry of Social Development case study for details.) An Official Information Act enquiry to the Ministry and the resulting response shows that an HRC staff member suggested that information about MSD's action to include self-ID and a third gender option for its clients should be kept under the radar:

Avoid turning this piece of work political. Suggest we let them, and other organisations [meaning presumably the organisations that had lobbied for the change] know before we have any public announcements on this due to the negative feedback this could have in the media.⁴⁰

This would appear to indicate that Commission staff are aware there are strong concerns in the community about gender self-identification. Instead of suggesting that this be addressed in a balanced way (as the Commission's statutory role advises) or acting in line with the DPMC Policy Quality Framework⁴¹ and finding a way to work through the differences of opinion, its staff proposed ensuring changes slide through the back door. This is scarcely edifying behaviour for an agency charged with guarding the human rights of all New Zealanders and the maintenance and development of harmonious relations between individuals and among the diverse groups in New Zealand society.

PRISM Report, 2020

In the *PRISM* report the Commission sets out its stall for what it would like an incoming government to do, based on analysis that "reflects the voices of the SOGIESC diverse people who attended the Commission's consultation hui in 2018".

The report's executive summary says that gender identity, gender expression, or sex characteristics are "enshrined in international covenants, conventions, and declarations". The report cites the Yogyakarta Principles and the Universal Declaration of Human Rights but the covenants, conventions and declarations that encode these gender identity rights remain unidentified in the report. The text of the report shows that even getting and retaining the special rapporteur (see above) on LGBTQI issues was achieved only with significant effort.

In his foreword to the *PRISM* report, Chief Commissioner Hunt reveals his personal involvement in drafting the Yogyakarta Principles:

[I]n 2007, I had the privilege of working with a panel of international experts to set out international human rights law as it relates to a person's actual or perceived sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, and sex characteristics (SOGIESC). We had no doubt: SOGIESC rights are human rights. This idea animated the Yogyakarta Principles.¹¹

But, as discussed above, in the 14 years since the Yogyakarta Principles were drafted, they have not been adopted and hence have no international legal standing. Yet the Commission cites them to promote the case for changes to New Zealand laws and policy.

It takes an ideological stance at the outset with respect to gender identity. Despite there being no biological or other proof that gender identity actually exists outside of theorising, the report says that:

All people have a sexual orientation, **gender identity and expression and sex characteristics**. ¹¹ (emphasis added)

Similarly on pages 7 and 61 of the report it is stated that gender identity:

refers to **each person's** deeply felt internal and individual experience of gender, which may or may not correspond with the sex assigned at birth. (Emphasis added).

Such claims have never been tested among the population at large. As described above, the concept arose not from research or psychology but solely as a means for the ideological validation of the ideas of transgenderism and as a means of equating transgender ideology with sexual orientation through the SOGI/SOGIESC acronyms and framing. Of those who are aware of the recent arrival of gender ideology in our midst, many, including many feminists, do not believe they have a gender identity, nor do they believe in the concept. But promulgating these ideas now serves increasingly to endorse the feelings of confused young people who feel they 'don't fit'.

The report also cites Article 16 of the *International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights* (1966) as providing a basis for sex self-identification with respect to a greater freedom to amend birth certificates. This seems to interpret Article 16 in a way that could not have been predicted by its drafters. It is instead a wilful misreading of a simple statement. It reads:

"Everyone shall have the right to recognition everywhere as a person before the law."

This statement would not permit a right to self-identify in the manner being proposed by the report, so there is no legal basis for the report's interpretation. It appears to be a wish in search of a UN validation.

PRISM also employs language that is particular to people who believe in gender ideology, such as 'sex assigned at birth', 'cisgender' and 'pansexual' and definitions that differ from common usage. It uses the word 'gender' as meaning self-defined gender, which is in stark contrast to the definition of gender adopted by the United Nations⁴² and the World Health Organisation.⁴³

The report also states in its definition of 'sexual orientation', and in usage of the term elsewhere in the document, that this refers to attraction to the *same*, *different or both genders*. Given its unusual interpretation of gender as meaning 'gender by self-identification', this must be assumed to mean 'self-identified gender'. This sleight of hand effectively drains sexual orientation of its meaning. It also misrepresents the legislation that the Commission has a statutory duty to uphold. This legislation says that:

sexual orientation...means a heterosexual, homosexual, lesbian, or bisexual orientation.

Same-gender attraction in the terms cast by the Commission's *PRISM* report is most certainly not what was intended by the lesbian women who campaigned to include lesbians in New Zealand's equality and human rights legislation.⁴⁴

The report also uses the inaccurate language 'sex assigned at birth'. Sex is often known from scans well before a birth and midwives and doctors **observe** the sex at birth. (Until it was co-opted by gender ideologists, the only legitimate use of the term is for the very rare births where a person is found to have a disorder of sexual development where sex is genuinely indeterminable and often, but not always, an interim assessment is made.)

PRISM lacks nuance on the issue of hate speech. It argues strongly in favour of a new law, with no discussion of balancing rights to free speech with other rights. Neither does it address the possible downsides of vexatious complaints or the well-publicised experience overseas, where such legislation has been enacted and the police have been involved in serious overreach.⁴⁵ The report downplays the disadvantage suffered by gay and lesbian people (whom it titles "sexuality diverse communities").¹¹

Further the Commission reports that:

[S]exuality diverse communities have had the benefit of rapid gains in social acceptance [whereas] the pace of change for those with diverse gender identities, gender expressions, and sex characteristics has been much slower.¹¹

The Commission cites no evidence for this assertion and ignores evidence that the opposite is in fact the case. For example, the *Youth12* reports showed that gay and lesbian young people are at least equally if not sometimes more impacted than transgender people by discrimination and its impacts, including on mental health. ⁴⁶ Nor does it refer to the United Nations Free and Equal project, whose framing is predicated on lesbian, gay and transgender people having different but equivalent stigma and disadvantage. ⁴⁷

Meanwhile, aside from general proposals concerning bullying, discrimination and a proposed new hate speech law, all the other practical changes proposed to support rainbow communities are directed at transgender people. These recommendations include a mix of unquantifiable and vague sentiments such as the right to "an assured sense of safety" and a "sense of being". They also include various special and unusual rights – such as access to self-selected bathrooms, acknowledgement of identities by others, access to sports by identified gender, allowing of self-identified changes to birth certificates, and expecting adherence to preferred names and third person pronouns.

The *PRISM* report pushes for gender self-identification in law without addressing the arguments that prevented the self-ID provisions in the BDMRR Bill from proceeding. These included lack of proper consultation and the way the proposed law would undermine sex as a societal category on which significant legislation and reporting is based.^{38 48} It instead cites Yogyakarta Principle 31, which states that:

Everyone has the right to legal recognition without reference to, or requiring assignment or disclosure of, sex, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression or sex characteristics.

It does this without considering which others would be impacted by such a policy. It argues for the social and legal transitioning of children and young people, arguing that they:

are protected from discrimination based on gender identity under the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child.

This is incorrect. The Convention does not include children claiming a transgender identity.⁴⁹ But that does not stop the Commission from making the leap to declare that:

On this basis, the process of recognition should ensure young people also have access to legal recognition of their gender identity.¹¹

Most worryingly, the report makes no mention of the increasing evidence that young people are choosing a transgender identity for reasons that include a lack of positive role models, prior abuse, autism syndrome conditions, homophobia, and social contagion.²⁸ ³¹

The guidelines also argue for exceptional rights of privacy from teachers and fellow students, saying:

[O]nly the school principal, school counsellor, and a trans student's teachers should be aware of a trans student's gender identity. It is not appropriate for a school to disclose a trans student's gender identity to other students and their families, except with the trans student's permission.⁵⁰

There are dangers for both children and their teachers when a small group is placed beyond the normal arrangements for public education and is offered exceptional levels of privacy.⁵¹ Yet the *PRISM* report proposes that 'trans children' should be guaranteed this.

In short, the approach of the Commission to the evidence, the overstatement of the Yogyakarta Principles, inconsistencies with international definitions and the lack of willingness to address well-founded objections are all serious concerns regarding these documents. Lack of balance is addressed next.

Balancing Rights and Promoting Harmonious Relations

The Human Rights Commission is one of the key organisations at the heart of the current ideological split between transgender rights campaigners and women's rights campaigners.

Current Chief Commissioner Paul Hunt has spoken frequently about the Commission's role in balancing rights. In relation to the Christchurch massacre, he said:

Very few human rights are absolute.... Balance is a foundational human rights concept. Often a fair and reasonable balance has to be struck between competing rights. In New Zealand, we are already very familiar with striking human rights balances between, for example, freedom of information and the right to privacy.⁵²

Speaking about the competing interests in access to housing, where both landlords and tenants have rights, the Commissioner pointed out that "*Human rights are relational*".⁵³

In contrast, no such recognition of opposing views or competing interests appears in any of the Commission's public statements on transgender rights. In many instances, its authors appear to have set their agenda and then searched for resources and opinions in local and international law in attempts to legitimise it. The Commission has not sought to balance rights between natal females and transgender people. Neither has it taken into account the different interests of the diverse groups that make up the so-called rainbow community. Yet increasingly there is an awareness internationally that the interests and concerns of the lesbian and gay communities differ from those of transgender and intersex people. ⁵⁴ For example, lesbians are under pressure to consider males as sexual partners if the men 'identify as women'. ⁵⁵

As well as being champion and advisor with respect to human rights, the Commission's role is "the encouragement of harmonious relations between individuals and among the diverse groups in New Zealand". 56

This is important, because there is a great deal of antagonism in the debates around transgender rights. Transgender people and their allies argue that transpeople face unique challenges related to violence, suicide, mental illness, denigration and judgement, as well as in accessing healthcare, housing and employment. But those who argue there is a conflict of rights and interests between women and transgender people face public vilification, loss of employment, threats of and actual violence, deplatforming, silencing and more. ^{57 58 59} Standing up for women should not be regarded as – and in fact is not – an anti-transgender position. Given the Commission's role of supporting harmonious community relationships, should it not take a balancing role in this debate? It has not done this. It appears to have relinquished its balancing

role, favouring transgender people over women as well as over lesbian and gay people.

For instance, the Commission has been decisively in favour of the participation of transwomen in women's sport . This is despite, firstly, significant research⁶⁰ indicating the physical benefits that male-born people retain after reducing testosterone levels, and secondly, sex-based categories in competitive sport being protected by the Human Rights Act.¹ The Commission's total support of transwoman Laurel Hubbard's participation in the Commonwealth Games women's weightlifting event in 2018¹⁰ was published both on social media and in press releases picked up by the media.¹⁰⁶¹

If the Commission's role includes responsibility for balance and harmonious relations, and since sexed-based categories in sport are included in the Human Rights Act, why is the Commission so clearly in favour of one group over another? What has happened to the human rights of women to compete-with other women of comparable size and weight, rather than with people who have advantages of male physical development – greater body mass, stronger bones, and greater lung capacity? This is completely disregarded by the Commission, as is the long history of women's fight to have their participation in sport taken seriously.

There are many other instances of the Commission having totally absorbed gender ideology and hence refusing to play any kind of balancing role in the current disputes:

- In the *PRISM* report the HRC promotes the social transition of school-aged children, while never mentioning the impacts on other children of being required to endorse the view that change of sex is possible. Neither does it mention that most gender-confused children will desist at puberty if there is no interference with their maturation.⁶² It also disregards the rights of religious students such as Muslims to the single-sex spaces required by their religion.
- It has praised the use of an Mx
- option (meaning a gender of 'other') on voting cards, 63 and other self-identification initiatives, 64 even though gender self-identification legislation has not been passed.
- The Commission continues to advocate condition-free changes to birth certificates, even though there has been no public consultation on such a move – which is partly why gender self-identification legislation was deferred.
- It has given precedence to transgender people on days that celebrate women.
 For example, it has used the anniversary of CEDAW to promote the need for improvement of rights for transgender people, 65 even though that Convention specifically addresses the need for the elimination of discrimination against women. 66

In allowing for the over-riding of sex-based rights with transgender rights, the Commission is ignoring what it points out in its 2017 *Briefing to the Incoming Minister*,⁶⁷ which is that not only are these (gender identity) rights not enshrined in law, they could be overturned with a simple test case in a court or a Human Rights Review Tribunal.

The Commission's views fall into the dangerous territory of embedding a belief that it is possible to change sex, while the assertion that "everyone has a gender identity" implies that other people should believe this too. 11 This is despite the Bill of Rights Act supporting freedom of belief, which must, of course, mean also freedom not to believe any particular ideology. There is no evidence of the Commission making any effort to understand and deal with the concerns of women who see their sex-based rights being eroded in the current push to support transgender people, particularly transwomen. It is little wonder that harmonious relationships are not possible in the present climate.

References (Human Rights Commission)

- 1. Parliamentary Counsel Office. *Human Rights Act 1993 No 82.* (Reprint August 26, 2020) New Zealand Government, 1993. http://www.legislation.govt.nz/act/public/1993/0082/latest/096be8ed81a11fd6.pdf
- 2. Parliamentary Counsel Office. *Human Rights Act 1993 No 82* (Reprint 26 August 2020), Section 5, Functions of Commission. Accessed October 26, 2020. http://www.legislation.govt.nz/act/public/1993/0082/latest/DLM304276.html
- 3. New Zealand Parliament. *Human Rights (Gender Identity) Amendment Bill 2004*. Published online October 21, 2004. Accessed July 7, 2020. https://www.parliament.nz/en/pb/bills-and-laws/bills-digests/document/47PLLawBD11681/human-rights-gender-identity-amendment-bill-2004-member-s
- 4. Campbell S. Gender trouble in the Human Rights Act 1993. *New Zealand Public Interest Law Journal*, 2016 (17)(3). Accessed August 16, 2020. http://www.nzlii.org/nz/journals/NZPubIntLawJI/2016/2.html
- 5. New Zealand Parliament. Statutes Amendment Bill (No 4) First Reading. Published April 16, 2014. Accessed August 16, 2020. https://www.parliament.nz/en/pb/hansard-debates/rhr/document/50HansD_2014_0416_00000012/statutes-amendment-bill-no-4-first-reading
- 6. Crown Law. Crown Law Opinion on Transgender Discrimination. Beehive press release, 23 August 2006. Accessed October 9, 2019. http://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/crown-law-opinion-transgender-discrimination
- 7. Markham A. Transgender ideology and the law. *NZ Law Journal*, February 2019:4. Accessed April 25, 2019. https://natlib.govt.nz/records/40812754
- 8. Human Rights Commission. Submission on Births, Deaths, Marriages, and Relationships Registration Bill. Human Rights Commission, 2018:18. https://www.parliament.nz/resource/en-NZ/52SCGA_EVI_74854_768/f89b89d6b8078ee4f17e3673d99cfb038ab67868

- Alves V. Transgender woman accuses Wellington women-only gym of discrimination. New Zealand Herald, Published online May 29, 2018. Accessed February 16, 2020. https://www.nzherald.co.nz/nz/news/article.cfm?c_id=1&objectid=12060723
- Human Rights Commission. NZ backs transgender weightlifter Laurel Hubbard for Commonwealth Games. Stuff NZ, December 4, 2017. Accessed August 15, 2020. https://www.stuff.co.nz/sport/other-sports/99294375/human-rights-commission-nz-backs-transgender-weightlifter-laurel-hubbard-for-commonwealth-games
- 11. Human Rights Commission. PRISM: Human Rights Issues Relating to Sexual Orientation, Gender Identity and Expression, and Sex Characteristics (SOGIESC) in Aotearoa New Zealand. Human Rights Commission, 2020. https://www.hrc.co.nz/files/9215/9253/7296/HRC_PRISM_SOGIESC_Report_June_2020_FINAL.pdf
- Yogyakarta Principles. Yogyakarta Principlesplus 10 (YP+10) The Application of International Human Rights Law in Relation to Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity. 10 November 2017. Accessed May 19, 2019.
 https://yogyakartaprinciples.org/ These principles add to the original principles were published in 2006 https://yogyakartaprinciples.org/ principles.org/principles-en/
- 13. ARC International. *Background*. Accessed September 15, 2020. http://arcinternational.net/about/background/
- 14. Zobnina A. Where Did Gender Identity Ideology Come From? Women's Human Rights Campaign. YouTube, August 17, 2020. Accessed September 15, 2020. https://www.youtube.com/watch?
 reload=9&time_continue=390&v=jk0ga6PX2Kc&feature=emb_title
- Jeffreys S. Enforcing Men's Sexual Rights in International Human Rights Law Dr Radfem. Dr Radfem, 2018. Accessed July 12, 2020. https://drradfem.org/enforcing-mens-sexual-rights-in-international-human-rights-law
- 16. Bilek J. Martine Rothblatt: a founding father of the transgender empire. *Uncommon Ground*, July 6, 2020. Accessed July 7, 2020. https://uncommongroundmedia.com/martine-rothblatt-a-founding-father-of-the-transgender-empire
- Rothblatt M. Second Report of the Health Law Project. Second international conference on transgender law and employment policy. August 1993. Accessed September 15, 2020. https://www.digitaltransgenderarchive.net/downloads/gq67jr234
- 18. Pichot P. DSM-III: the 3rd edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. *Rev Neurol (Paris)*, 1980;142(5),489-499.
- Human Rights Council. Resolution Adopted by the Human Rights Council on 30 June 2016: Protection against Violence and Discrimination Based on Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity. UN Human Rights Council. 2016. Accessed September 15, 2020. https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G16/154/15/PDF/G1615415.pdf?OpenElement
- 20. UN Free & Equal. Stand Up for Equal Rights and Fair Treatment for Lesbian, Gay, Bi, Trans and Intersex People Everywhere. UN Free & Equal. Accessed September 16, 2020. https://www.unfe.org/

- 21. International Justice Resource Center. *Special Procedures of the UN Human Rights Council*. IJRC, 2020. Accessed November 12, 2020. https://ijrcenter.org/un-special-procedures/
- 22. Object!. *Yogyakarta Principles: International Threat to Women's Rights*. Object! Published online May 30, 2020. Accessed May 31, 2020. https://objectnow.org/2018-7-27-yogyakarta-principles-international-threat-to-womens-rights/
- Human Rights Commission. To Be Who I Am / Kia Noho Au Ki Tōku Anō Ao. Report of the Inquiry into Discrimination Experienced by Transgender People. Human Rights Commission, 2008. Accessed March 19, 2020. https://www.hrc.co.nz/files/5714/2378/7661/15-Jan-2008_14-56-48 HRC Transgender FINAL.pdf
- Oliphant J. et al. Guidelines for Gender Affirming Healthcare for Gender Diverse and Transgender Children, Young People and Adults in Aotearoa. Transgender Health Research Lab, University of Waikato, 2018. Accessed July 12, 2019. https://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10289/12160/ Guidelines%20for%20Gender%20Affirming%20Health%20low%20res.pdf
- 25. PHARMAC. *Diversity and Inclusive Primary Healthcare: Gender Diversity, Part*1. Dr Jeannie Oliphant. PHARMAC seminar, September 19, 2017. Accessed July 23, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?
 v=NKD3gR9I_Ag&list=PLyuOPjKiQp7yLgrhf-LGpPIvpknK_kebb&index=3&t=0s
- 26. Ristori J, Steensma TD. Gender dysphoria in childhood. *International Review of Psychiatry*. 2016;28(1):13-20. doi:10.3109/09540261.2015.1115754
- 27. Press Association. Rupert Everett warns of dangers of child gender reassignment operations. *The Guardian,* June 19, 2016. Accessed November 10, 2020. https://www.theguardian.com/film/2016/jun/19/rupert-everett-dangers-of-child-sex-change-operations-gender
- 28. Littman L. Parent reports of adolescents and young adults perceived to show signs of a rapid onset of gender dysphoria. *Plos One*, August 16, 2018. Accessed April 25, 2019. https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0202330
- 29. Steensma TD, Cohen-Kettenis PT. A critical commentary on "A critical commentary on follow-up studies and 'desistence' theories about transgender and gender non-conforming children." *International Journal of Transgenderism*, 2018,19(2):225-230. doi:10.1080/15532739.2018.1468292
- Ditum S. How society is failing transgender children. New Statesman, October 25, 2016. Accessed June 16, 2019.
 https://www.newstatesman.com/politics/feminism/2016/10/how-society-failing-transgender-children
- 31. Marchiano L. Outbreak: on transgender teens and psychic epidemics. *Psychological Perspectives*, 2017, 60(3):345-366. doi:10.1080/00332925.2017.1350804
- 32. Growing Up in New Zealand. *Now We Are Eight*. Growing Up in New Zealand, 2020. Accessed November 12, 2020. https://www.growingup.co.nz/now-we-are-eight
- 33. Ramsey T. Transgender man lives with dangers of chest binding while waiting for surgery. *Stuff*, January 21, 2020. Accessed April 12, 2020.

- https://www.stuff.co.nz/life-style/well-good/inspire-me/118841268/transgender-man-lives-with-dangers-of-chest-binding-while-waiting-for-surgery
- Society for Evidence Based Gender Medicine. Correction of a Key Study: No Evidence of "Gender-Affirming" Surgeries Improving Mental Health. SEGM. Published online August 30, 2020. Accessed September 7, 2020. https://segm.org/ajp_correction_2020
- 35. Joyce H. A Canadian human rights spectacle exposes the risks of unfettered gender self-ID. *Quillette*, July 25, 2019. Accessed October 20, 2019. https://quillette.com/2019/07/25/a-canadian-human-rights-spectacle-exposes-the-risks-of-unfettered-gender-self-id/
- 36. Zygan A. Vancouver Rape Relief denied grant funding due to trans-exclusive policies. *Capilano Courier*, April 1, 2020. Accessed April 13, 2020. http://www.capilanocourier.com/2020/04/01/vancouver-rape-relief-denied-grant-funding-due-to-trans-exclusive-policies/
- 37. Cecco L. Court backs trans teen who feared being "stranded" by father's bid to stop transition. *The Guardian*, September 6, 2019. Accessed June 30. 2020. http://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/sep/06/trans-teenager-case-canada-father-halts-treatment
- 38. Martin (Hon) T. *Births, Deaths, Marriages and Relationships Registration Bill to be Deferred.* Beehive Media Releases, February 25, 2019. Accessed July 3, 2020. http://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/births-deaths-marriages-and-relationships-registration-bill-be-deferred
- 39. Gender Minorities Aotearoa. *3rd Gender Option for MSD*. Gender Minorities Aotearoa, 2019. Accessed September 6, 2020. https://genderminorities.com/2019/12/10/winz-studylink-msd-gender-option-self-id
- 40. Ministry of Social Development. Official Information Act Request: Changes to Gender Recording and Self-ID. MSD online March 25, 2020. Accessed June 26, 2020. https://fyi.org.nz/request/11860/response/47081/attach/3/20200325%20OIA%20response%20letter%20RIVERS.pdf
- 41. Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet. *Policy Improvement Frameworks: Policy Quality.* DPMC, 2019. Accessed August 17, 2020. https://dpmc.govt.nz/our-programmes/policy-project/policy-improvement-frameworks/policy-quality
- 42. UNICEF. Gender Equality: Glossary of Terms and Concepts. UNICEF: Regional Office for South Asia, November 2017. Accessed August 28, 2020. https://www.unicef.org/rosa/media/1761/file/Gender%20glossary%20of%20terms %20and%20concepts%20.pdf
- 43. World Health Organisation. *Glossary of Terms and Tools: Gender, Equity and Human Rights*. World Health Organisation, 2011. Accessed September 16, 2020. https://www.who.int/gender-equity-rights/knowledge/glossary/en/
- 44. Ministry for Culture and Heritage/Te Manatu. *Lesbian Political Struggles*. Accessed November 11, 2020. https://teara.govt.nz/en/lesbian-lives/page-5
- 45. Topping A. Police who warned man about "transphobic" tweet acted unlawfully. *The Guardian,* February14, 2020. Accessed November 12, 2020.

- https://www.theguardian.com/society/2020/feb/14/transgender-tweet-police-acted-unlawfully
- 46. University of Auckland Adolescent Health Research Group. Youth2000 Survey Series: The Health and Wellbeing of New Zealand Secondary School Students in 2012. 2014. Accessed July 15 2020. https://www.fmhs.auckland.ac.nz/assets/fmhs/faculty/ahrg/docs/Youth'12%20Youth20Sexes%20Report.pdf. See also the associated Transgender Young People Fact Sheet. https://www.fmhs.auckland.ac.nz/assets/fmhs/faculty/ahrg/docs/Youth12-transgender-young-people-fact-sheet.pdf
- 47. United Nations. *UN Free and Equal Progress Report 2019*. https://www.unfe.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/UNFE-Report-2019.pdf
- 48. Crown Law. Crown Law Advice BDMRR Bill Births, Death, Marriages and Relationships Registration Bill 2017 (Self-identification of Sex). Letter to Deputy Chief Legal Advisor, Department of Internal Affairs. Published online February 20, 2019. Accessed July 15, 2020.

 https://www.beehive.govt.nz/sites/default/files/2019-02/Crown%20Law%20advice%20BDMRR%20Bill%20_0.pdf
- 49. UNICEF. Convention on the Rights of the Child Text. UNICEF, 1989. Accessed August 26, 2020. https://www.unicef.org/child-rights-convention/convention-text
- Human Rights Commission. PRISM: Human Rights Issues Relating to Sexual Orientation, Gender Identity and Expression, and Sex Characteristics (SOGIESC) in Aotearoa New Zealand. Human Rights Commission, 2020, page 50.
 https://www.hrc.co.nz/files/9215/9253/7296/HRC_PRISM_SOGIESC_Report_Ju-ne_2020_FINAL.pdf
- 51. Transgender Trend. *Schools Resources*. 2019. Accessed June 27, 2020. http://www.transgendertrend.com/schools-resources
- 52. Hunt P. *Tackling Racism, Islamophobia and Hate in New Zealand*. Human Rights Commission, April 2 2019. Accessed August 15, 2020. https://www.hrc.co.nz/news/tackling-racism-islamophobia-and-hate-new-zealand
- 53. Hunt P. *The Human Right to a Decent Home.* Human Rights Commission, July 2, 2019. Accessed June 26, 2020. https://www.hrc.co.nz/news/paul-hunt-human-right-decent-home/
- 54. LGB Alliance. *About LGB Alliance*. Accessed September 11, 2020. https://lgballiance.org.uk/about/
- 55. Lesbian Rights Aotearoa. *Get The L Out.* Lesbian Rights Aotearoa, 2019. Accessed April 22, 2019. https://lesbian-rights-nz.org/shame-receipts/
- 56. Human Rights Commission. *New Zealand Human Rights What the Commission Does*. Human Rights Commission. Accessed June 26, 2020. https://www.hrc.co.nz/about/what-commission-does/
- 57. Montague-Sawyer C. *Lesbian Rights Aotearoa Banned from Pride*. Lesbian Rights Aotearoa, 2019. Accessed April 22, 2019. https://lesbian-rights-nz.org/2019/03/28/blog-lesbian-ilga/
- 58. Stock K. Are academics freely able to criticise the idea of 'gender identity' in UK universities? *Medium*, July 3, 2019. Accessed July 5, 2019.

- https://medium.com/@kathleenstock/are-academics-freely-able-to-criticise-the-idea-of-gender-identity-in-uk-universities-67b97c6e04be
- Joyce. H. Trans trailblazers leave women bruised. *Standpoint*, September 18, 2019. Accessed September 21, 2019. https://standpointmag.co.uk/issues/september-october-2019/trans-trailblazers-leave-women-bruised/
- 60. Knox T, Anderson LC, Heather A. Transwomen in elite sport: scientific and ethical considerations. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 2019,45(6):395-403. doi:10.1136/medethics-2018-105208
- 61. Pavitt M. Samoa 2019 chairman says transgender lifter's involvement at Pacific Games is "unfair". *Inside the Games*, July 16, 2019. Accessed September 14, 2020. https://www.insidethegames.biz/articles/1082150/hubbard-participation-ingames-unfair
- Transgender Trend. CPS Schools Project: the Erasure Of Sex and the Silencing of Girls. Transgender Trend, March 8, 2017. Accessed May 6, 2020. https://www.transgendertrend.com/cps-schools-project-the-erasure-of-sex-and-the-silencing-of-girls/
- 63. Chumko A. Mx Pronouns on voting enrolment forms for first time. *Stuff*, August 01, 2020. Accessed September 9, 2020. https://www.stuff.co.nz/national/politics/122253522/mx-pronouns-on-voting-enrolment-forms-for-first-time
- 64. Gay Express Magazine. Ministry of Social Development adds third gender option. *Gay Express Magazine*, December 12, 2019. Accessed September 7, 2020. https://gayexpress.co.nz/2019/12/ministry-of-social-development-adds-third-gender-option/
- 65. Human Rights Commission. Today is the International Day for the Elimination of Violence Against Women. Human Rights Commission FaceBook page. Published November 25, 2019. Accessed August 25, 2020. https://m.facebook.com/NZHumanRightsCommission/photos/a.10150829310918 843/10157070568173843
- 66. United Nations *The Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW)* 1979. Accessed August 25, 2020. https://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/cedaw/cedaw.htm
- 67. Human Rights Commission. *Briefing to the Incoming Minister*. Human Rights Commission, 2017. Accessed May 25, 2020. https://www.hrc.co.nz/news/briefing-incoming-minist-er/

Ministry for Women

Background

At the official launch of the Ministry for Women's Affairs in 1986, Labour Prime Minister David Lange told the gathering "Your job is to change the world". He could scarcely have imagined that 30 years later the organisation would be changing the very meaning of the word 'women'.

The work of the Ministry, renamed in 2014 to its current title, has included tracking progress for women on various fronts, a nominations service to get more women on boards of directors, and making policy and recommendations. Since the Pay Equity Unit within the Department of Labour was dissolved in 2009, pay equity has been a big focus of the Ministry's work.

However, from late 2017, the Minister for Women in the Labour-led coalition government, Green Party MP Julie-Ann Genter, implemented policy based on a new definition of women – one that is determined by self-identification. This happened without consultation, without policy analysis or impact analysis and almost entirely without public notification.

Minister Genter brought Green Party promotion of gender ideology to her position in government. Soon after her appointment, she referred briefly to transwomen in a speech on 10 December 2017 at the YWCA equal pay awards that was published on the Beehive website, saying

I am especially committed to ensuring everyone gets a fair go – Māori, Pasifika, women of colour, Asian women, migrant and refugee women, young and older women, women with disabilities, **trans-women** and everyone working in womendominated occupations that have been undervalued simply on the basis of gender. (Emphasis added)²

Online searches of the Ministry and Beehive websites offer no other examples of policy changes, speeches or press releases from the Minister concerning transgender people or advocating that a new definition of women be created to be inclusive of transwomen. A single mention in a speech would not generally be read as equating to a significant policy change without supporting notifications and papers. Neither, surely, would it usually be understood as an intention to do something as dramatic and far-reaching as to collapse the meaning of 'woman' from one based on sex to one based on gender self-identification.

A Lack of Website Search Capability

The Ministry for Women is the smallest of the government's ministries, so a lack of capacity may be the reason for its poor website search capability. Searching for the

word 'transgender' finds only one document, and that is not related to the Ministry's own policies.³ Searches for 'gender identity', 'gender-diverse' and 'non-binary' find only pages that do not contain those phrases. Only by a detailed search of individual documents is it possible to glean a part of what has happened at the Ministry. Importantly, although the Ministry publishes some but not all Official Information Act responses, none can be found through the site's search engine.

Policy-making in the Dark, 2018

Examination of the Ministry's *Statement of Intent 2018-2022* finds transwomen mentioned in its listings related to the Ministry "building an understanding of working conditions for the diverse groups of women". Despite that innovation, there was no policy change or other announcement accepting that transwomen are understood to be women and that self-identification is fully endorsed. For example, it was not notified on the Ministry's or the Beehive website as a news item. The inclusion of transwomen in the pay equity project (see below) was not notified in the Ministry's quarterly newletter *Pānui Wāhine*, either to correspond with the new Statement of Intent or since. The section of the Ministry's website that covers its history and role does not provide information about the change, and neither do any news stories. There is apparently nothing about this change that has become part of the Ministry's public record, aside from responses to Official Information Act requests.

Together with the State Services Commission and Stats NZ, the Ministry for Women in 2018 designed and signed a new standard on the measurement and analysis of gender pay gaps, for use by employers and staff groups who "want to know more about measuring and analysing gender pay gaps in their organisations".⁹ Transgender people were included as their self-identified gender by default, with the guidelines advising that:

[E]mployees should be included as the gender they choose. Some employees may not identify as men or women but as gender-diverse, or they may prefer not to state a gender identity.

At the Diverse Thinking Governance Summit of 2018, the Acting Chief Executive of the Ministry, Helen Potiki, revealed that the category 'women' included men by self-identification. The notes of her speech are on the conference website, and state:

The Ministry for Women wants to meet the needs and support the aspirations of **all women and girls and their communities** through a focus on improving outcomes for Māori, Pacific, and other diverse cultures, those that identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, **transgender** and intersexed (LGBTI), and those with disabilities. (Emphasis added)¹⁰

This conference speech was not included as a news item on the Ministry's website or reported in its newsletter. Only information within Official Information Act (OIA)

responses actually demonstrates the shadow policy of the organisation. An OIA response from 10 August 2018 revealed that:

The Ministry for Women's policy position is to take an **inclusive** approach to recognising **all people who identify as women and girls**. **This is in line with the United Nations approach to women's human rights**. This is reflected in the Minister for Women's speeches, publications and ministerial requests, as well as in Ministry correspondence. (Emphasis added)¹¹

No impact assessment or any other work was carried out in 2018 by the Ministry¹² on the proposed BDMRR Bill to enact gender self-identity. It might have been considered important to understand any unintended consequence, for example. The proposed legislation was deferred in February 2019, yet the Ministry's response to an OIA in 22 June 2020¹³ stated specifically that:

"The Ministry for Women represents the interests of all women, including transgender women, and it recognises the right of all people to self-identify.

In doing so, the Ministry has considered New Zealand law and international conventions. In particular, we follow the legal definition set out in human rights legislation, which states that all people, regardless of their sexual orientation or gender identity, have the same human rights and freedoms. All sexual and gender minorities in New Zealand have these rights. This aligns with recommendations made by the United Nations Convention on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW).

There is no exact date for when the Ministry adopted the above definition but it is noted in the Ministry's Statement of Intent 2018-2022 and Annual Report 2019, both of which are publicly available.

The Ministry has not undertaken an in-depth social impact assessment of accepting the right of all people to self-identify. However, we do not consider there is evidence that the rights of women are being damaged as a result of the right of all people to self-identify.

The Ministry for Women has not undertaken any public consultation on the definition you have raised. (Emphases added)

Despite the BDMRR Bill being withdrawn more than 16 months earlier than that response, the Ministry for Women has acted as if self-identification is in place. The Ministry appears to be confused about the general rights that accrue to all people, the specific rights that are in the Human Rights Act – i.e. sex, sexual orientation –

and those that are not – i.e. gender identity. As to CEDAW, the Ministry's assessment is contradicted by human rights lawyer Professor Rosa Freedman. In 2018, she responded to similar claims made by Labour MP Louisa Wall about the extent of CEDAW, saying that it:

distinguishes between the discrimination that women experience on the basis of their sex (e.g. child brides, lack of reproductive rights, etc) and those experienced on the basis of gender (e.g. lack of education, gendered expectations of roles in the family, etc).... CEDAW was created to protect women from discrimination, and therefore including individuals with male biology even if they are trans women would be outside of the scope of the treaty. (Emphases added)

Professor Freedman added that:

Some countries have been including [sexual orientation and gender identity] issues in their state reports to CEDAW, but the idea that [the Convention] requires them to do so, let alone to enact domestic legislation, is wrong. 14

Bringing in Gender, 2019

Together with the Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet's policy team, the Ministry developed a toolkit called *Bringing in Gender*, launched in 2019. The toolkit's purpose is the proper inclusion of gender in policy work across government. There is little to indicate that it too is using self-identified gender as a reference point. On the website, a tab with extra information (not visible from the main page and not searchable) contains the following text:

Datasets usually still measure sex as binary. Keep in mind that gender is more fluid than sex and the lack of data on specific population groups such as gender-diverse people doesn't mean there isn't a problem. In the past, government forms (from the national census to medical or education enrolment forms) have provided only two choices when it comes to gender: male or female. People who identify as gender diverse are excluded by this approach, and they are also made invisible for statistical purposes. As a result, services don't fit all individuals and information reinforces a binary view.¹⁵

Once again, the Ministry's stance and explanation of a major change is covert rather than overt. The assumption, however, is that sex can be a spectrum and that sex diversity exists.

The Equal Pay Amendment Act, 2020

The purpose of the Equal Pay Amendment Act 2020 is to:

[i]mprove the process for raising and progressing pay equity claims, and to eliminate and prevent discrimination **on the**

basis of sex in the remuneration and employment terms and conditions for work done within **female-dominated** jobs. (Emphases added)¹⁶

Although 'employee' and 'agreement' are defined in the Act, neither 'women' nor 'female' are. All references to these words relate to issues around women's lower-paid and lower-status employment. Yet self-identified women *are* included, as had been agreed in the measurement guidelines drafted in 2018.

The pay comparisons for the New Zealand public sector for 2019 presumably used those criteria. They show an historically exceptional result in terms of a lessening of the gender pay gap. The change was the largest in 17 years and the pay gap fell from 12.2% in 2018 to 10.5%. Whether self-identified women (transwomen) i.e. people who were likely to be in better paid, traditionally male occupations, had any effect on the reduction in the pay differential cannot be known.

The Briefing to the Incoming Minister 2020

The Ministry's briefing to the new Minister advises her of the Ministry's need to be "politically neutral, to provide free and frank advice, and to be open and transparent". However, in its section on pay equity it fails to mention the work carried out with the State Services Commission and Stats NZ on including transwomen in pay equity, as described above. In its section on the views of stakeholders it cites the Gender Justice Collective as being representative of women and girls, and quotes extensively from a self-selecting survey YouChoose2020, which was carried out by the collective in the lead-up to the 2020 election. The collective wanted to find out "what matters to women and non-binary people, trans women, intersex people, and takatāpui". While the recommendations themselves are mostly unsurprising, the survey was couched in the language of gender ideology and presupposed a belief in gender identity that made it difficult for those of differing views to participate. The collective records its mission as follows:

We use feminism as a shorthand for intersectional feminism: a feminism that is not exclusivity (sic) focused on eradicating sexism but one that is invested in dismantling all systemic hierarchies including white supremacy, patriarchy, capitalism, ableism, heterosexism, transphobia, colonialism and more.¹⁹

The use of this organisation begs a question about whether it is lack of capacity, naivety or ideological capture that sees the Ministry use a survey from an organisation primarily dedicated to "dismantling all systemic hierarchies" rather than focusing on the situation of women and girls.

Discussion

If there is any doubt about the incredible strides the transgender movement has made without democratic oversight, with the barest of public notifications and with information that is coded or misleading, the actions of the Ministry for Women and its 2017-2020 Minister are a case in point. It appears that the government ministry responsible for women's issues has made a fundamental change regarding who is included in its core demographic The Ministry has decided to create a definition of woman/women based on biology to one based on self-identification.

Information about the change is not to be found by searching the Ministry's website. The notifications have been added as single-word additions to the Ministry's accountability documents by listing transwomen as a category of women alongside disabled, Māori, lesbian and refugee women. There have been no press releases or speeches notified on the Ministry's website nor any communications to interested parties through the organisation's newsletter. There has been no consultation, impact analysis or related policy work to make the decision. The Ministry cannot even say when the decision was made. The most significant information about the change of approach is contained only in Official Information Act responses that are not to be found by using the search functions on the agency's website.

The Ministry's commitment to accepting self-identified gender has taken place despite self-identification not being included in New Zealand law. This has happened almost entirely under cover. The dates of the available documents show that the Ministry has both anticipated self-identification legislation that is not yet in force and has continued *despite* the deferral of the law.

References (Ministry for Women)

- 1 Information from Jill Abigail, MWA Director of Information and Liaison 1986-88.
- 2 Genter JA. Speech for the YWCA Equal Pay Awards. The Beehive. Published November 10, 2017. Accessed August 15, 2020. http://www.beehive.govt.nz/speech/speech-ywca-equal-pay-awards
- 3 Ministry for Women. *Increasing the Representation of Women on Private Sector Boards*. Ministry for Women, 2016. Accessed August 15, 2020. https://women.govt.nz/documents/increasing-representation-women-private-sector-boards-aug-2016
- 4 Ministry for Women. *Statement of Intent 2018-2022*. Ministry for Women. Accessed July 30, 2020. https://women.govt.nz/sites/public_files/Statement%20of%20Intent%202018%20Ministry%20for%20Women.pdf
- 5 Ministry for Women. Pānui Wāhine Quarterly Newsletter. Ministry for Women, 2017.
 https://women.govt.nz/sites/public_files/3404_MFW_Panui_November_online_FINAL%5B102%5D.pdf

- 6 Ministry for Women. *History of the Ministry for Women*. Ministry for Women, 2012. Accessed August 15, 2020. https://women.govt.nz/about/new-zealand-women/history/ministry
- 7 Ministry for Women. *About the Ministry*. Ministry for Women. Published May 18, 2012. Accessed September 10, 2020. https://women.govt.nz/about
- 8 Ministry for Women. *News*. Ministry for Women. Accessed May 25, 2020. https://women.govt.nz/news?page=1
- 9 Stats NZ, Ministry for Women, State Services Commission. Organisational Gender Pay Gaps: Measurement and Analysis Guidelines. Stats NZ, 2020:Second Edition (first published 2018). https://www.stats.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Methods/Organisational-gender-pay-gaps-measurement-analysis-guidelines.pdf
- 10 Potiki H. Why the Ministry for Women/Minitatanga Mo Nga Wahine is supporting the Summit. In: *Diverse Thinking Governance Summit; 2018*. November 7, 2018. Accessed May 9, 2020. <a href="https://www.superdiversity.org/news/why-the-ministry-for-women-minitatanga-mo-nga-wahine-is-supporting-the-summit-a-word-from-helen-potiki-acting-chief-executive-ministry-for-women-and-presenter-at-the-summit
- Ministry for Women. Official Information Act Response: Gender. Ministry for Women, 2018. Accessed July 30, 2020. https://women.govt.nz/sites/public_files/OIA%20response%20dated %2010%20August%202018%20-%20topic%20-%20gender %20%28225863%29.PDF
- 12 Ministry for Women. Official Information Act Response: BDMRR Bill. Ministry for Women, 2020. Accessed July 6, 2020. https://women.govt.nz/sites/public_files/OIA%20response%20dated%2013%20September%202018%20-%20Births%2C%20Deaths%2C%20Marriages%20and%20Relationships%20Registration%20Bill%20%28226134%29.pdf
- 13 Ministry for Women. *Official Information Act Response: Definition of Woman*. Ministry for Women, 2020. Accessed August 14, 2020. https://women.govt.nz/sites/public_files/OIA_response_dated_22_June_2020
 Self-identification women %28238117%29%5B1%5D.pdf
- 14 Freedman R. Addressing claims made by NZ MP Louisa Wall about CEDAW. Presented in response to the claim that the Convention includes transwomen. Exchange on Twitter. Published November 28, 2018. https://twitter.com/GoonerProf/status/1067733657245372418
- 15 Ministry for Women. *Bringing Gender into the Policy Issue*. Ministry for Women, 2019. Accessed August 14, 2020. https://women.govt.nz/gendertool/policy-issue
- 16 New Zealand Parliament. *Equal Pay Amendment Bill*. Accessed August 14, 2020. https://www.parliament.nz/en/pb/bills-and-laws/bills-proposed-laws/document/BILL 80319/equal-pay-amendment-bill

- 17 Genter JA. Lowest ever Public Service gender pay gap. *Scoop*, July 23, 2020. Accessed August 10, 2020. https://www.scoop.co.nz/stories/PA2007/S00207/lowest-ever-public-service-gender-pay-tgap.htm
- 18 Ministry for Women. *Briefing to the Incoming* Minister. Ministry for Women, 2020. Accessed January 23 2021. https://www.beehive.govt.nz/sites/default/files/2020-12/Women.pdf
- 19 Gender Justice Collective. About page. Accessed January 23 2020. https://www.genderjustice.nz/about

Stats NZ

Introduction

Stats NZ works in international cooperation with a number of other countries, including the United Kingdom, the United States, Canada, Australia, the Republic of Ireland, and Scotland. Many of these countries are preparing to include gender diversity and related topics in their next national censuses. Stats NZ states that continuing to learn and share experiences with other National Statistical Offices will be an important part of building robust practices moving toward New Zealand's 2023 census.¹

The Stats NZ website outlines the ongoing work being done to collect more data on what it calls Aotearoa's rainbow community, with the ultimate aim of including diversity topics in all social surveys and the 2023 census. The department says it has been working alongside interest groups and agencies for several years to better understand these topics and how to collect more robust data about them. However, those interest groups have not as yet included gender-critical women's rights groups, such as Speak Up for Women. Elsewhere, the engagement has been patchy. In contrast to the work on the sex and gender identity standard described below, there was no advisory group appointed for the sexual orientation standard.²

The department introduces its policies as being based on inclusivity:

Stats NZ is working to meet the strong need for data collected about New Zealand's population to be more inclusive.

Data that captures the diversity of the population in terms of sex, gender identity, and sexual orientation has been very limited, both in New Zealand and around the world.

Stats NZ recognises the collection of information that adequately reflects the diversity of New Zealand's population has not been inclusive for all, and has not met the information needs of sexual and gender minority groups.

We are committed to doing better. We are working to collect robust data about sex, gender identity, and sexual orientation. This will result in information that will raise understanding and improve decision-making.

We know that some individuals and community groups have a strong interest in seeing data that better reflects who they are, because data has the power to change lives.¹

Examination of the Stats NZ website shows that New Zealand has followed Canada and the United Kingdom in accepting the language of gender ideology, using terms

such as gender diverse, non-binary genders, different sexual identities, and gender spectrum.

Statistical Standard for Gender Identity V1.0.0, 2015

In 2015, Stats NZ announced a world first in a new gender identity statistical standard. 'Gender diverse' would join 'male' and 'female' categories in a new gender identity classification that would record the identity of all people, including those who see themselves as different from male or female.³

Stats NZ said the statistical standard for gender identity was developed through consultation with groups representing people with different gender identities and with government organisations who would use the new classifications.

Announcing the standard, Stats NZ's classifications manager Jo-anne Allan said that:

The term gender diverse is fairly new but we believe that over time it will be widely used and accepted. We recommend this term for official statistical use.

We believe the gender diverse population see it as a step towards being seen, counted, and understood. The standard expands gender identity categories beyond the current female/male boundaries.³

The department said that as leaders of the Official Statistics System (OSS), Stats NZ had developed the statistical standard for gender identity in order to:

- standardise definitions and measures of gender identity data across the OSS, to improve accessibility, interpretability, and comparability of data, and reduce duplication of effort
- meet human rights requirements for data collection and to support the legal requirements of the Human Rights Act 1993
- enable policy-makers to develop measures that will address matters of importance affecting gender minority groups. This will more adequately address the needs of these people across the gender identity spectrum in areas such as health, social, education, and employment.

The standard uses the following definitions:

Gender identity: A person's internal sense of being wholly female, wholly male, or having aspects of female and/or male. A person's gender identity can be expressed in several ways, and may or may not correspond with the sex recorded at birth.

Gender: The social and cultural construction based on the expectation of what it means to be a man and/or a woman, including roles, expectations, and behaviour.

Sex: The distinction between males and females based on the biological differences in sexual characteristics.

Sexual orientation: A person's sexual orientation can be derived from their sexual attraction, sexual behaviour, and/or sexual identity.⁴

Consultation on a New Standard for Sexual Orientation, 2018

In 2018, Stats NZ announced it was in the process of creating a framework for sexual orientation and a statistical standard for sexual identity. In April 2018, the department used a public submissions process to collect feedback on this proposed framework and standard. They received 924 submissions during the three-week consultation period.⁵

Over 80 percent agreed with the proposed framework, definitions and terminology, and question design. Those who offered suggestions for change mostly focused on inclusivity, with many submitters saying the proposed framework and definitions did not fully cover the scope of sexual orientation. Suggestions included removing binary language, updating some definitions to reflect modern usage, and including more aspects and identities that were not present in the proposed framework. Some12% of submitters wanted the framework wording changed. Among the ideas proposed were: (a) to include non-binary and other minority identities; (b) to include gender and sex, rather than solely a biological element; and (c) to make sexual orientation categories gender-based rather than sex-based. Other suggestions included expanding the framework to include: (a) indigenous identities (e.g. takatāpui – in the adopted meaning of being a member of the LGBTQIA+ community rather than in the original sense of intimate companion of the same sex);⁶ (b) asexuality; and (c) multiple identities.⁵ All these proposed changes are indicative of gender ideology.

Although this consultation was about *sexual* identity, not *gender* identity, there is obviously overlap in discussing these various concepts. It would appear that the comments from submitters served to influence both the sexual orientation standard and later work.⁷

Gender Pay Gap Measurement and Analysis, 2018

Together with the State Services Commission and the Ministry for Women, Stats NZ designed a new standard for pay gap measurement, for the guidance of employers and staff groups wanting "to know more about measuring and analysing gender pay gaps in their organisations".8

The guidelines say:

[E]mployees should be included as the gender they choose. Some employees may not identify as men or women but as gender-diverse, or they may prefer not to state a gender identity.⁸

It is relevant to note that since 2018, all public sector workforce information has been collected by self-identified gender, affecting not only pay data, but roles held by transwomen being counted as held by women.⁹

Household Economic Survey, 2019/20

Stats NZ decided that the 2019/20 Household Economic Survey (HES) would, for the first time, ask respondents to describe their gender. Combined with a question about sex at birth, this information would help the department to better reflect gender minorities in the data collected about New Zealand's population. The HES is a sample survey of households in Aotearoa. Since the 2018/19 HES, the department collects responses from over 20,000 households.

In future, three questions – sexual identity, sex at birth, and gender – will be included as part of the core demographics collected in all Stats NZ household surveys. This is the first time that 'gender' has been used with the meaning of 'gender identity' or 'self-described gender'. The Government Statistician and Minister for Statistics agreed that Stats NZ should continue working on ways to collect information on these topics, with a clear direction that these questions will be included in the 2023 census.

The department stated that since developing the content for the 2018 census they had increased knowledge about best practice to ensure quality data could be collected on these topics, both from research in the area and international advances at other statistics offices.

Review of the Sex and Gender Identity Standards, 2019/2020

In December 2019, Stats NZ announced it was conducting a review of both the sex and gender identity statistical standards. ¹⁰ The department said it would be consulting other government agencies and key stakeholders over the course of the review and would be seeking public feedback on any proposed changes.

Stats NZ convened an external advisory group of topic experts to help with aspects of the gender identity review. The listing of the advisory group names shows them almost all to represent transgender interest groups.²

The new proposed standard for New Zealand is similar to the Canadian standard for *Gender of [a] Person*, released in 2018.¹¹ The Canadian standard includes 'cisgender' and 'transgender' people in the definitions of male and female. The New Zealand standard does not as yet use the term 'cisgender', which means 'non-transgender'. Some women have strongly objected to this term, on the same basis that they would object to being described as 'non-men'.¹²

In July 2020, following a delay caused by the Covid19 pandemic, Stats NZ launched its consultation process on the new standards. ¹³ The consultation paper used the

term 'gender', as it did in the Household Economic Survey described above. Despite 'gender' being a term already loaded with multiple meanings, the definition supplied is:

a person's social and personal identity as male, female, or another gender such as non-binary. Gender may include the gender that a person internally feels ('gender identity'), and/or the gender a person publicly expresses ('gender expression') in their daily life. A person's current gender may differ from the sex recorded at their birth and may differ from what is indicated on their current legal documents. A person's gender may change over time. Some people may not identify with any gender.

The consultation paper provides an almost identical definition for the phrase 'gender identity'.

The proposed changes, if adopted, herald the effective replacement of data on sex (physical reality) with data on gender (defined in this case as a belief) across all New Zealand's public sector over time, except where the sex factor is a requirement. In the examples given from Canada, some aspects of healthcare and health research would require sex information. These changes were not signalled as part of Stats NZ's *Strategic Intentions 2019–2023*, as might be expected for changes to what is described as "an important and complex topic". Neither was this change signalled by the previous work outlined above.

The main proposal in this consultation is that government information collected for the census and for all other purposes, including service delivery, compliance and regulation, surveys and analytics across all domains of government record-keeping, will in future capture the information using a 'gender by default' principle.

'Gender by default' is explained in the consultation document as:

....an approach that defaults to the collection of gender data as opposed to sex at birth. Defaulting to a specified variable facilitates consistency of data collection. Collection of sex at birth information should be viewed as an exception where there is a specific need.

In most cases a person's gender – their social and personal identity – is most relevant for policy making and research rather than their sex at birth. Gender based analysis is used in a range of areas, from income equality to health and education. (Emphasis added)¹³

The statement that a person's gender is more relevant for policy-making than their sex at birth is astonishing, and its implications for women are discussed below. The new principle means that there will be no requirement to capture sex data except

where it is explicitly demanded. If the Canadian model is followed, sex data will be required in the health sector only. Even there, the collection of data will be selective.

In the Stats NZ discussion document, a workflow is provided to identify when sex data needs to be collected by government, and says this will happen "where necessary". ¹⁶ The workflow does not give any examples to explain this, or how it would work in practice. From the documentation, it seems that no risk or impact assessment ¹⁷ of the proposal has been carried out. Moreover, the workflow description proposes following the Canadian approach which, as discussed above, covers the collection of sex (or gender) data only for selective health purposes. ¹⁴

The consultation paper appears to have given little if any consideration to the importance of sex-based information. All the documents referenced relate to the specific concerns of transgender and intersex people. There is no evidence of research into impacts related to the failure to collect sex-based data or to replace data on women with data on self-identified women.

This proposed change, then, is all the more important because of the differing needs that removing sex will occlude. The collection of statistical and other data already works to the detriment of women in multiple different ways. 18 When public policy moves away from using sex-based information, as is happening now, even less information will be kept about women. If, as is proposed by Stats NZ, 13 sex data will not be collected whenever it is not explicitly required, the government risks adding to the under-representation of women's data. There are many examples showing that New Zealand's collection of data on women (by sex) is lacking. Whether it involves design, drug testing or automobile safety, women are frequently an afterthought. 18 For instance, of more than 1000 research reports from the NZ Transport Agency, only a very small number are described as having information about sex or as mentioning females or women. In another example, sex-based data is_not collected even where it would reveal interesting insights. 19 In a 2019 historical review of family violence, data was collected by the Ministry of Justice.²⁰ but apart from in cases of rape, the sex of the perpetrator was removed from the categories of offence in the summary reporting. The implications of such omissions are that:

If in all cases the sexes continue to be mixed then we will not be able to gather data to assess or address sex inequality such as the pay gap, unequal political representation, different patterns of criminality and victimhood or to monitor and plan for health. This will be harmful for women because distorted statistics will give a distorted picture of actual real world inequality rooted in the biological and reproductive differences between women and men.²¹

Discussion

The call for information about transgender people to be recorded in public data is a valid one and the adoption of 'gender identity' as a statistical category has moved incrementally over the last few years to capture this information, alongside sex, intersex and sexual orientation. However, Stats NZ has regarded as 'best practice' overseas examples where the legislative situation is substantially different from New Zealand. The trajectory over this time has shown a marked preference for the gender ideology thinking reflected by a few overseas jurisdictions. For example:

- the creation of a sexual orientation standard that says sexual orientation may be defined as same-gender or opposite gender orientation. This is effectively arguing that lesbian women and gay men no longer have a defined category of being same-sex attracted.⁵
- the decision in 2018 to include people in pay equity calculations by self-identified gender a full two years before the consultation on sex and gender identity had even occurred.⁸ Pay equity is one of the most crucial datasets.
 (This topic is covered in full in the Ministry for Women case study.)
- the use by Stats NZ staff of pronoun statements in email signatures.²²

These are all testament to the influence that gender ideology advocates and thinking have in the department.

The final step in this process is that Stats NZ has proposed to replace sex data with gender identity data in most cases, or not to collect it at all. This is a proposal as extraordinary as it is dangerous. The Stats NZ decision that self-identification is fully endorsed in data collection is unusual and controversial. By whose assessment is gender identity – recast as 'gender' – most relevant? Not by most women, for whom statistics are important measures of progress. Discrimination from long-embedded patriarchal perspectives and misogyny have not magically disappeared. Physical and mental health, occupational differences, access to money and roles of influence in the public and private sectors, the perpetration of and vulnerability to violence and any number of other issues continue to have sexed dimensions. Without accurate data on women, neither improvements for them nor the rolling back of their participation can be measured.

Sex matters, and the associated issues have not disappeared because some males regard themselves as female. Women are not just small men. The differences related to our female biology are significant. Policy and record-keeping need to take account of our needs in regard to menstruation, pregnancy, childbirth, parental leave and childcare.

The Stats NZ approach proposing a category of woman defined by self-identified gender effectively confounds the meaning of 'woman'. Legislation that would have made this legal has been deferred. A change of sex-marker on a birth certificate

currently requires a Family Court process and a medical diagnosis. The proposal is therefore a sign that Stats NZ is effectively supporting the extra-legal implementation of self-identification. Other factors include:

- the proposed supplanting of the usual meanings for 'gender', replacing them with a new meaning of 'self-identified gender' or 'gender identity';
- the proposed adoption of the approach taken in Canada, a country where selfidentification has been allowed in law, without addressing concerns that:
 - the situations of the two countries are not comparable, as self-identification is not in New Zealand's legislation²³
 - the Canadian standard proposes not collecting sex or even gender data in most circumstances – something that is not made clear in the New Zealand consultation document²⁴
 - the Canadian legislation still lacks a public gender-based impact assessment and has had significant negative consequences;²⁵
- the adoption of terms from gender ideology, such as 'cis' and 'assigned at birth', that are incomprehensible, meaningless or even insulting to many in the population;
- the lack of evidence that any groups concerned about self-ID were consulted about the proposed changes. There is no evidence of the risks and unanticipated consequences for women being considered; nor of examining whether there are risks to work that has – until now – relied on datasets and series that are standardised to sex;¹⁶
- the taking on board of 'non-binary' identities, for which there is no legal status.
 This explicitly goes against a main reason for the deferral of the New Zealand self-ID provisions, which was that the definition of 'sex' would collapse;²⁶
- the capitulation to a gender ideology perspective that regards some data about transgender people as irrelevant or inherently inaccurate, including:
 - the failure to consider an important category of 'trans' people who are most at risk – detransitioners, who may revert to understanding themselves as their birth sex, many with severe mental health and medical sequellae. There is strong evidence that transgender communities do not want this data collected²⁷ ²⁸
 - the failure to account for information that transgender people remain by and large in the occupations, relationships and sex-based crime categories that they would have been in prior to being transgender – in particular, that violent crimes, typical of males, are already being reported as female crimes;

- other data that is controversially regarded as normalising gender ideology. For instance, unlike the sexual orientation standard, there is no lower age for children in the gender identity standard. This is despite the fact that most children who express a gender preference different from their sex grow out of this during adolescence;²⁹
- the advisory body's lack of diversity means they would be unlikely to take a
 broad societal view of the disadvantages of a failure to collect sex-based data
 even if they were alerted to shortcomings. (This is part of a trend –
 evidenced in the countries Stats NZ identifies as displaying 'best practice' to
 stop collecting data about women at all, ¹⁶ in addition to the information about
 Canada above).
- the failure to consider whether there are legal protections that may apply to the collection of statistics relating to female experience as a protected characteristic in law.

These serious and systemic potential problems demonstrate the extent to which Stats NZ has endorsed a gender identity ideology perspective in its creation of these standards. This will impact record-keeping across New Zealand, with serious consequences for future researchers examining the position of women and consequent inability to identify progress or lack of progress and to address demonstrable inequities and inequalities.

References (Stats NZ)

- Stats NZ. Sex, Gender, and Sexual Orientation. Stats NZ, 2019. Accessed September 1, 2020. https://www.stats.govt.nz/reports/sex-gender-and-sexual-orientation
- Stats NZ. Terms of Reference for Advisory Group Sex and Gender Identity Standard Review. Stats NZ. Accessed July 30, 2020. https://www.stats.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Reports/Reviewing-the-statistical-standards-for-sex-and-gender-jownload-data/Terms-of-reference-for-advisory-group-sex-and-gender-identity-standard-review.pdf
- 3. Stats NZ. Gender Identity Standard World-First in New Zealand. Stats NZ press release, 2015. Accessed September 1, 2020. http://archive.stats.govt.nz/tools_and_services/media-centre/media-releases-2015/gender-identity-17-july-15.aspx
- 4. Stats NZ. *Gender Identity*. Stats NZ, 2015. Accessed June 27, 2020. http://archive.stats.govt.nz/methods/classifications-and-standards/classification-related-stats-standards/gender-identity.aspx
- Stats NZ. Sexual Orientation: Findings from Public Consultation April 2018. Stats NZ, 2018. Accessed August 2, 2020. https://www.stats.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Consultations/Sexual-orientation-findings-from-public-consultation-april-2018/Sexual-orientation-Findings-from-public-consultation-April-2018.pdf

- 6. Williams HW. Takatāpui, n. Intimate companion of the same sex. Ko taku tuahine ra, kia whakamoea ma taku hoa takatapui, ma Tiki (T. 135). Il takapui, tapui. In: *A Dictionary of the Maori Language*. 6th ed. 1957. http://nzetc.victoria.ac.nz/tm/scholarly/tei-WillDict-t1-body-d1-d12.html
- Stats NZ. Sexual Orientation (Framework). Stats NZ, 2019. Accessed August 2, 2020. http://aria.stats.govt.nz/aria/#StandardView:uri=http://stats.govt.nz/cms/StatisticalStandard/aKorJMR9ZIDv3lub
- 8. Stats NZ, Ministry for Women, State Services Commission. *Organisational Gender Pay Gaps: Measurement and Analysis Guidelines*. Stats NZ, 2020:Second Edition (first published 2018). https://www.stats.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Methods/Organisational-gender-pay-gaps-measurement-analysis-guidelines.pdf
- State Services Commission. Standards of Workforce Information for Agencies in the State Services. SSC, 2018. Accessed 9 September 2020. https://www.publicservice.govt.nz/assets/Legacy/resources/Workforce_Information_f or State Sector Agencies Nov-2018.pdf
- 10. Stats NZ. Reviewing the Statistical Standards for Sex and Gender. Stats NZ. Accessed July 30, 2020. https://www.stats.govt.nz/reports/reviewing-the-statistical-standards-for-sex-and-gender
- 11. Statistics Canada. *Gender of Person*. Government of Canada, 2018. Accessed September 1, 2020. https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p3Var.pl?
 Function=DEC&Id=410445
- 12. Saxby H. *Not The News in Briefs*., 2020. Accessed September 1, 2020. https://notthenewsinbriefs.wordpress.com/
- Stats NZ. Sex and Gender Identity Statistical Standards: Consultation Paper. Stats NZ, 2020. https://www.stats.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Consultations/Sex-and-gender-identity-statistical-standards-consultation.pdf
- Canadian Institutes of Health Research. How to Integrate Sex and Gender into Research. Government of Canada, 2019. Accessed August 2, 2020. https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/50836.html
- 15. Stats NZ. Stats NZ's Strategic Intentions 2019–23. Stats NZ, 2019. Accessed July 30, 2020. https://www.stats.govt.nz/corporate/stats-nzs-strategic-intentions-201923
- 16. Stats NZ. A Step-by-Step Guide to Determining If and How to Collect Sex and Gender Data. Stats NZ, 2020. Accessed July 30, 2020. https://www.stats.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Consultations/Sex-and-gender-identity-statistical-standards-Consultation/Decision-diagram-guide-to-determine-if-and-how-to-collect-sex-and-gender-data.jpg
- 17. Stats NZ. Sex and Gender Identity Statistical Standards: Consultation. Stats NZ, 2020. Accessed September 1, 2020. https://www.stats.govt.nz/consultations/sex-and-gender-identity-statistical-standards-consultation
- Criado Perez C. *Invisible Women: Exposing Data Bias in a World Designed for Men*. Chatto and Windus, 2019. Accessed August 2, 2020. https://www.carolinecriadoperez.com
- 19. NZTA. Personal Travel Characteristics of New Zealanders: Analysis of Home Interview Survey Data. Transfund, 2000. Accessed July 30, 2020.

- https://www.nzta.govt.nz/assets/resources/research/reports/183/183-Personal-travel-characteristics-of-New-Zealanders-analysis-of-home-interview-survey-data.pdf
- Ministry of Justice. Attrition and Progression: Reported Sexual Violence Victimisations in the Criminal Justice System. Ministry of Justice, 2019. Accessed July 30, 2020. https://www.justice.govt.nz/assets/Documents/Publications/sf79dq-Sexual-violence-victimisations-attrition-and-progression-report-v1.0.pdf
- 21. Reilly-Cooper R. Sex and Gender: A Beginner's Guide. 2015. Accessed May 30, 2019. https://sexandgenderintro.com
- 22. Stats NZ. Example of use of pronouns in Stats NZ emails. Stats NZ, 2020. https://drive.google.com/file/d/1EYtBG4zcNKxfKXrQgN2vGEddfQli1Dsl/view?usp=sharing
- Martin (Hon) T. Births, Deaths, Marriages and Relationships Registration Bill to be Deferred. Beehive Media Releases. Published February 25, 2019. Accessed July 3, 2020. http://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/births-deaths-marriages-and-relationships-registration-bill-be-deferred
- 24. Treasury Board of Canada Secretariat. *Modernizing the Government of Canada's Sex and Gender Information Practices:* Government of Canada, 2019. Accessed August 2, 2020. https://www.canada.ca/en/treasury-board-secretariat/corporate/reports/summary-
 - https://www.canada.ca/en/treasury-board-secretariat/corporate/reports/summary-modernizing-info-sex-gender.html
- 25. Canadian Women's Declaration: An Appeal to Repeal Bill c-16. Declaration Des Femmes Canadiennes. 2019. Accessed August 2, 2020. http://www.pdfquebec.org/English/documents/2019-11-
 Declaration_des_femmes_canadiennes_VA.pdf
- 26. Crown Law. Crown Law advice BDMRR Bill Births, Death, Marriages and Relationships Registration Bill 2017 (Self-identification of sex). Letter to Deputy Chief Legal Advisor, Department of Internal Affairs. Published online February 20, 2019. Accessed July 15, 2020. https://www.beehive.govt.nz/sites/default/files/2019-02/Crown%20Law%20advice%20BDMRR%20Bill%20_0.pdf
- 27. Kay J. An Interview With Lisa Littman, Who Coined the Term 'Rapid Onset Gender Dysphoria.' Quillette. March 19, 2019. Accessed June 17, 2019. https://quillette.com/2019/03/19/an-interview-with-lisa-littman-who-coined-the-term-rapid-onset-gender-dysphoria
- Caspian J. My battle with the transgender thoughtpolice: James Caspian on the suppression of his research into people who detransition. Spiked Online, February 22, 2019. Accessed April 22, 2019. https://www.spiked-online.com/2019/02/22/my-battle-with-the-transgender-thoughtpolice
- 29. Zucker KJ. The myth of persistence: Response to "A critical commentary on follow-up studies and 'desistance' theories about transgender and gender non-conforming children" by Temple Newhook et al. (2018). *International Journal of Transgenderism*, 2018;19(2):231-245. doi:10.1080/15532739.2018.1468293

Ministry of Social Development

Stirrings of Discontent, 2018

In July 2018, when the coalition government's winter fuel payment was launched, the Ministry of Social Development (MSD) sent a notification notice to almost 400,000 people, including about 60,000 claimants and superannuitants whose names were wrong. It appears that in these letters the name was extracted from data that contained the birth name rather than the current one. Many people were slightly inconvenienced by this – those who had married, divorced, whose name had been corrected or who had changed their name for other reasons, as well as people who had changed gender. But it was the transgender community whose concerns were raised in media coverage, with claims of "dead-naming" that was incompetent, a breach of privacy law and very distressing. The name release was regarded as so significant that the associated media story appended a list of counselling and suicide prevention organisations.

It appears that this incident, and the backlash against it, was at least in part responsible for the implementation of gender self-identification at the Ministry. The other element was the canvassing by transgender organisations, which persuaded the Ministry that self-identification should be part of their service offering to the public.^{2, 3}

The wholesale implementation of gender self-ID at MSD has occurred as if it were a simple administrative matter, akin to a change in benefit rules. Rather than improving processes to prevent administrative errors in future, it appears that the Ministry, under pressure from rainbow organisations, set about a wholesale implementation of gender self-identification across its services.³

Announcing Self-identification, 2019

In December 2019 Gender Minorities Aotearoa announced that:

Thanks in part to the activism and political advocacy of a number of individual trans people and some community organisations, the Ministry of Social Development has carried out community consultation and added a 'gender diverse' option to their systems.

You can choose whether to use male, female, or gender diverse, just the same way you can choose ethnicity – with no supporting documentation. You do not need to change your birth certificate or other ID to change your gender marker with MSD.

....[I]f you are currently getting support from MSD (Work and Income/WINZ, and StudyLink), you can update your gender

marker in person or by calling WINZ 0800 559 009 or StudyLink 0800 88 99 00. (Emphasis in the original)²

The only form of announcement made by MSD was an update made in the Work and Income Map on 2 December 2019. The purpose of the Map (Map does not appear to be an acronym) is to:

provide policy guidelines to staff based on the legislation administered by the Ministry of Social Development.

These policy guidelines are the standards that operationalise legislation for staff to follow when assisting clients.⁴

The Map's new information on gender identity self-registration explained that:

Map has been updated with gender inclusive language and avoids using gender based rules where appropriate. When an external agency is providing services to a specific population based on gender or sex, the provider will determine the specific entry criteria. Forms and online applications have also been updated with 3 gender options for people to choose from, male, female, and gender diverse. See:

- Core policy Relationship status for benefit
- Social Housing, Assessment of eligibility Bedroom allocation⁴

So as from December 2019 several things have changed:

- The new rules apply to all MSD clients beneficiaries on job seekers, single parent, superannuation and disability benefits; students with grants or living allowances; and organisations that deliver services on behalf of clients.
- The advice to clients is that they can register with a self-identified gender of male, female or other.
- Standard forms have been changed to accept self-identification, so that the department now collects gender data rather than sex data, by default.
- Other changes were made as part of the implementation of the new policy. An example is the rules around sharing of rooms in state and social housing by children who may now be of different genders, as well as of different sexes. Additional consideration is given to the transgender child, whether male or female, in consideration of *their* privacy needs.⁵
- There is an expectation on every external service provider to the Ministry that it follows this advice and allows for gender self-identification in the delivery of services.

OIA Request about the Change, 2019

Despite the extensive ramifications of the change, including by implication the meaning of 'male' and 'female' changing to a 'gendered' definition rather than a sex definition, there was no public announcement by the Minister of Social Development about this, nor by Work and Income New Zealand (WINZ), nor by the Ministry itself.

In response to a subsequent Official Information Act (OIA) request, it was revealed that the effective implementation across MSD of self-identification by gender involved no consultation, no policy analysis, and no risk mitigation or impact assessment. Neither was there a proposed evaluation of the changes – in fact these have been implemented wholesale in a way that will almost preclude changes in future. There was no pilot process to assess impacts. Other consequences – training for staff, new processes, new data fields, communications with NGOs – were not considered as policy work, according to the OIA response.³

There was also no consultation with parties with alternative views about gender identity and self-identification, such as Speak Up For Women. No opinions were canvassed as to the wisdom of implementing a policy that effectively makes 'sex' as a category meaningless in the delivery of the Ministry's services. The move was carried out despite the Crown Law opinion on exactly this issue earlier in the same year. The opinion was instrumental in the withdrawal of the self-identification legislation in the Births, Deaths, Marriages and Relationships Registration Bill because, amongst other reasons, self-identification of gender collapsed the meaning of 'sex'.⁶⁷ MSD undertook no analysis of impacts on the organisations delivering services on its behalf, such as accommodation providers or social services. Nor were flow-on effects of self-identification to other departments examined, such as the transfer of student loans to the Inland Revenue Department when study is completed.⁸

The same Official Information Act response reports that there were no formal meetings with community groups, let alone a wider canvassing of opinion about the decision to implement self-ID and a third gender option. Instead, MSD policy staff contacted organisations by phone to discuss the most appropriate language to use. The consultation results consisted of handwritten notes and entries in a table.³ The preferences of a few government departments – the Human Rights Commission (whose advice was to keep the work out of the media), the Department of Internal Affairs, the State Services Commission and the Social Investment Agency – were canvassed. Five rainbow organisations and two youth health centres which support transgender patients (and which all hold the same beliefs in gender identity and the affirmative-only approach) were also contacted. The reason for the lack of wideranging consultation and the failure to adopt any of the DPMC Policy Quality Framework criteria⁹ (see Part 1, section 2.2 of this paper) was said by MSD to be that, in their view, the decision to change to a self-identification model **was not regarded as policy work**.

Questions Arising from the Decision

The approach raises a number of important questions, aside from the obvious one. Why has an assumed (and often unstable) identity of feeling become a more important data point than biological sex?

How can the MSD assess the quality of its policy advice when it says that changes which have significant impacts both between and within agencies, as well as delivery impacts on contracted NGOs, are not policy changes in the first place?

How can MSD justify the evidence-free implementation of self-ID taking place within months of the law to do the same thing being deferred? And why did the agency's processes to implement the change not cross-check against this important decision and raise questions about the wisdom of the action?

Why did the department not await the results of the Stats NZ consultation on sex and gender identity before proceeding with this change?¹⁰

How is accurate data possible for research and policy work around welfare benefits, e.g. accurate data on mothers and fathers who are using the Domestic Purposes Benefit, if people are recording themselves as non-binary or the opposite sex, with absolutely no preconditions or documentation required? How is relative hardship or the impacts of policies on women to be gauged if the category of 'sex' has been lost? How are transgender service users to be identified and their outcomes and needs tracked and improved upon, if their data is subsumed into the male or female category?

The ramifications for social housing policy are confusing, as there is no lower age limit for gender identity in the new policy. Does a 15-year-old boy become eligible to share a room with a younger girl if the data stored about the boy is changed? How are Non Government Organisations (NGOs) providing services on contract to the Ministry supposed to have tooled up to implement this change without warning or guidelines? How would any of them question these decisions or manage the additional costs they incur?

What happens with fraud issues and the department? With self-ID, the person being prosecuted will automatically be regarded by the courts system as their identified gender rather than their actual sex. In that case, how would such a person be matched against other crimes committed in the name of their birth sex?

Given that the Ministry expects all its providers to take similar action, how will they protect women and girls in shelters (in the way envisaged by the Human Rights Act) if any man – including males with malign intent – can identify as a woman? The contracted NGO must presumably accept self-assessment at face value, since there appears to be no policy analysis or advice about keeping records of both sex and self-identified gender?

Are the Ministry's Heartland Services included? These are the Ministry's 28 rural and provincial centres that provide access to all government services. What about the other non-MSD services provided from these locations to people who are now recorded by a self-declared name and sex marker of their choice?

What happens where the Ministry's services intersect with those of other agencies, such as when students finish their courses and their loans are transferred to the Inland Revenue Department? Will that department also receive information by self-identified gender? What about record-keeping of students by the Ministry of Education? By NZQA?

If a major government agency can avoid the government's good practice guidance on policy quality by simply asserting that what they are doing is "not policy work", surely that approach goes against both the spirit and the intent of the policy framework. That MSD's initiative was implemented only months after a law to achieve the same objective had been deferred is alarming, given the serious reasons Crown Law supplied against it. Surely the agency would have been aware of this, and of the proposed work by Stats NZ to create a standard for gender identity across government? The Ministry could not have missed the strong public campaign that was mounted against the new law, including potential reputational damage to Ministers had the unconsulted change gone ahead. This somewhat reckless approach by a government agency to accede to the demands of one sector of society and ignore existing legal guidance and the deferral of the law is, in essence, a clear example of policy capture in the face of multiple contra-indications.

References (Ministry of Social Development)

- Carroll J. Work and Income apologises for using 60,000 wrong names. Stuff, July 3, 2018. Accessed September 4, 2020. https://www.stuff.co.nz/national/105165121/winz-apologises-for-using-60000-wrong-names
- Gender Minorities Aotearoa. 3rd Gender Option for MSD. Gender Minorities Aotearoa, 2019. Accessed September 6, 2020. https://genderminorities.com/2019/12/10/winz-studylink-msd-gender-option-self-id
- Ministry of Social Development. Official Information Act Request: Changes to Gender Recording and Self-ID. fyi.org.nz. Published online March 25, 2020. Accessed June 26, 2020. https://fyi.org.nz/request/11860/response/47081/attach/3/20200325%20OIA%20response%20letter%20RIVERS.pdf
- Work and Income NZ. Map Changes in 2019 Map. Ministry of Social Development, 2020. Accessed September 7, 2020. https://www.workandincome.govt.nz/map/changes/map-changes-in-2019.html
- Work and Income NZ. Exceptions to Bedroom Allocation Map. Ministry of Social Development .Accessed September 8, 2020. https://www.workandincome.govt.nz/map/social-housing/assessment-of-eligibility/exceptions-to-bedroom-allocation-01.html
- Crown Law. Crown Law Advice BDMRR Bill Births, Death, Marriages and Relationships Registration Bill 2017 (Self-identification of Sex). Letter to Deputy Chief Legal Advisor, Department of Internal Affairs,. Published online February 20, 2019. Accessed July 15, 2020. https://www.beehive.govt.nz/sites/default/files/2019-02/Crown%20Law%20advice%20BDMRR%20Bill%20_0.pdf
- 7. Martin (Hon) T. *Births, Deaths, Marriages and Relationships Registration Bill to be Deferred.* Beehive Media Releases, February 25, 2019. Accessed July 3, 2020. http://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/births-deaths-marriages-and-relationships-registration-bill-be-deferred
- 8. StudyLink. *What Happens to Your Loan.* Ministry of Social Development, 2016. Accessed November 4, 2020. https://www.studylink.govt.nz/finished-study/your-loan.html
- 9. Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet. *Policy Improvement Frameworks: Policy Quality.* Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet, 2019. Accessed August 17, 2020. https://dpmc.govt.nz/our-programmes/policy-project/policy-improvement-frameworks/policy-quality
- 10. Stats NZ. Sex and Gender Identity Statistical Standards: Consultation Paper. Stats NZ, 2020. https://www.stats.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Consultations/Sex-and-gender-identity-statistical-standards-consultation.pdf

Jan Rivers is a former public servant, now an independent researcher and writer, whose interests include open government, trade agreements, social equity and consultative approaches to decision making. She has organised and run events on these topics and writes the Public Good blog.

Jill Abigail is a former librarian, researcher, broadcaster, oral historian, manager and editor. She has worked in both the governmental and non-governmental sectors and has written on feminist issues for over 40 years.

Their previous article, Another Unfortunate Experiment? New Zealand's Transgender Health Policy and its Impact on Children, is available on Jan Rivers blog site Public Good

https://www.publicgood.org.nz/2020/12/02/another-unfortunate-experiment/.